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Constructed in 1818, The Briars is a nogged frame, one-and-a-half- 
story structure covered with stucco on the front, or east, elevation and 
clapboard on the remaining sides. It is a classic example of the "under­ 
cut" form indigenous to the early architecture of the lower Mississippi 
Valley. Characterized by a long, low profile, the form derives its name 
from its gallery, which is not conceived of as an appendage but rather as 
an integral space within the structure's volume. Similarly, the rear 
gallery is "undercut" into the structure, but is flanked by small end 
cabinets and thus open on only one side. Between the two galleries is 
a grouping of nearly square rooms which share interior chimneys. The 
whole arrangement was an early and quite successful attempt to cope with 
the nearly tropical climate of the region.

Because it developed as a vernacular form, the "undercut" was rarely 
employed in residences of any significant architectural sophistication. 
At The Briars, however, the form is greatly enhanced by its well-calculated 
proportions and excellent Federal woodwork. A graceful Doric colonnade 
divides the facade into nine bays and supports a steep roof broken by four 
dormers with so-called Gothic sash. The broad entrance, with its sidelights 
and elliptical transom, is framed by a frontispiece composed of engaged Doric 
columns supporting a full entablature. Occupying the two end bays are a 
pair of secondary entrances topped by semicircular fans. Windows are double 
hung with twelve-over-twelve glazing and are surrounded by finely molded, 
symmetrical architraves with corner blocks. The rear (west) elevation, 
fronted entirely by a narrow porch with an arched plaster ceiling, was 
apparently more of an open passage than a living space. Now wholly en­ 
closed by glass, it gives access to the end cabinets as well as the open 
gallery between, from which it is divided by a five-bay arcade.

As is typical of the "undercut" form, the interior plan of The Briars 
consists of a center passage connecting the front and rear verandas and 
flanked on either side by two commodious chambers. From the rear veranda, 
which has become a large living room, twin Colonial Revival staircases 
ascend to the second level, which accommodates bedrooms under the eaves. 
Dating from ca. 1927, these stairs replaced a single flight of steep 
stairs along the gallery's south wall. Other, less serious, alterations 
to the plan of The Briars have been limited to the installation of kitchen 
and bathrooms in the end cabinets.

The beautifully detailed interior trim is among the finest of the 
Federal period in Mississippi. Doors and window panels are treated with 
fielded hollow-corner panels and the surrounding architraves are symmetrically 
molded with corner blocks. Parlor and dining room mantels were designed with 
engaged, wreathed columns, five-part friezes, boldly carved paterae and re­ 
turned shelves. Less elegant mantels in the remaining front rooms have 
unusual oval columns, paneled friezes and plain shelves. In addition,, these 
end rooms received somewhat conservative chair rails. Despite minor renova­ 
tion in the past, the architectural fabric of The Briars f s interior has re­ 
mained almost wholly intact.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Located on a bluff overlooking the Mississippi River southwest of 
Natchez is The Briars, the most fully developed and sophisticated example 
of the long, low "undercut" architectural form indigenous to the lower 
Mississippi Valley. This regional idiom is characterized by a range of 
nearly square rooms placed between broad front and rear verandas which 
are invariably set into the building's volume. Usually considered ver­ 
nacular, this form reached its most elegant architectural expression 
at The Briars. The residence is also significant for being the setting, 
in 1845, of the marriage of Jefferson Davis and Varina Howell.

On October 30, 1818, John Perkins (1781-1866) gained title to "that 
tract of land about 1 mile below the old Spanish Fort Panmure in the city 
of Natchez containing 99 acres" (Deed Book K:232). Shortly thereafter 
he began construction of a dwelling house (Rainwater, p. 976), where he 
settled after his marriage that same year to a Mrs. Bynum. A native of 
Somerset County, Maryland, Perkins had migrated to Natchez ca. 1802, and 
during the next thirty years he amassed a large fortune from 18,000 acres 
of cotton-producing land in the Louisiana Delta. About 1816, he was 
appointed parish judge of Concordia, Louisiana. Upon his wife's death 
in 1824, Perkins offered his house for sale, describing it as "The New 
and pleasant Situation called the BRIARS." Confident of its excellent 
reputation, he continued, "The situation is so well known, that a par­ 
ticular description is deemed unnecessary" (Mississippi Republican, 
December 1, 1824). The property was not sold, however, until 1833, one 
year after Perkins had moved to Lowndes County, Mississippi, where he 
remained for the rest of his life. It was during this latter period 
that Perkins established three separate endowments for the Theological 
Seminary of the Presbyterian Church in Columbia, South Carolina, thus 
becoming a noted benefactor of that institution (Rainwater, pp. 970-79).

From 1828 until 1850, The Briars was rented to William Burr Howell 
(1795-1863), New Jersey governor Richard Howell's fourth son, who moved 
to Natchez ca. 1815 and became engaged in merchandising and planting. 
In 1823, he married Margaret Kempe, and the couple lived with her family 
at "Kempeton," near Natchez, until the destruction of that residence by 
fire in 1828 caused Howell to move his young family to The Briars. It 
was here that Varina Banks Howell (1826-1906) spent her childhood 
(Mclntosh, p. 124), and in the drawing room at The Briars, on February 26, 
1845, Varina Howell married Jefferson Davis.
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8 - SIGNIFICANCE

In 1853, The Briars was sold to Walter Irvine, whose decendants 
held title until 1927 (Deed Book 11:383). During this period the resi­ 
dence fell into a state of disrepair but, fortunately, its architectural 
fabric remained intact. When it became the property of Mrs. Emma Augusta 
Wall in 1927, a restoration partially obscured the original appearance of 
the rear gallery. Despite this, her efforts assured the continual pres­ 
ervation of The Briars, and today it functions as both a popular house 
museum and as a private residence.

9 - MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

(Natchez) Mississippi Republican and Literary Register. November 5, 1824, 
December 1, 1824.

(Natchez) Mississippi State Gazette. November 6, 1824.

Rainwater, P. L., ed. "The Memorial of John Perkins." Louisiana Historical 
Quarterly 20:965-89.

10 - GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

the Briars Tract; thence along said north boundary N 61° 41 f W for 1000 feet, 
more or less, to the point of beginning. Being situated in Adams County, 
Mississippi, and containing 17.7 acres, more or less.
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10 - GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

The original Briars tract of 99 acres purchased by John Perkins 
in 1818 has been reduced to its present 17.7 acre size after legally 
changing hands a total of 16 times. While considerably reduced, the 
17.7 acre site adequately preserves the original rural character of 
The Briars and protects it from the encroaching commercialism of 
Natchez.



RESUME OF HOUSE CALLED THE BRIERS 
Natchez, Mississippi

Primarily The Briers is significant because it.was the scene of the marriage of Jeffersor 
Davis to Varina HoweH on February 26, 1845 , Varina Howel1 having lived in the house sir 
the age of approximately two years.

Secondly, it is an excellent example of Southern planter architecture in the first quart* 
of the 19th century, fortunate in that the exterior elevations and basic interior plan 
remain unaltered.

Thirdly, it is unique in the beauty and seclusion of its grounds, which contain an tndiar 
mound and with its bluff that overlooks the Mississippi River and the flat plains of 
Lou i s i ana.

The original tract of 100 acres was granted to Richard Bacon by Spanish Grant on April 2( 
1784.3 Arthur Mahan acquired the property (plus 50 additional acres) with the appurtenam 
for $1,200.00 on January 18, 1814. We believe the present house to have been built by 
Arthur Mahan subsequent to this date and prior to 1818 for the following reason. On 
October 30, 1818, Arthur Mahan conveyed 99 acres (being that part of the tract granted t< 
Richard Bacon by the Spanish) of his 150 acres and appurtenances to John Perkins for a 
consideration of $9,996.00.^ The increase in value from 1814 to 1818 would definitely Ii 
dicate a major improvement.

The interior trim, mantels, window detail, etc., which are in the Adam style, are almost 
identical to other houses that Lev! Weeks, the architect, designed in the Natchez area 
during this period; but to date we have not found any documentation to prove that Lev! 
Weeks designed the house.

John Perkins was still the owner of the property when William Burr Howel1 (a cousin of 
Aaron Burr) and his wife, Louise Kempe Howel1, moved there with their two children in 
1828-29. 2 One of these children was Varina. The HowelIs lived there until 1850 when th* 
moved to New Orleans. William Burr Howel1 had a lifetime of business failures which may 
account for the house never having been recorded in his name even though he lived there 
over twenty years.

On February 11,1853, the house was acquired by Walter Irvine. !t stayed in the irvine 
family until August 5, 1927, when it was conveyed to Mrs. Emma Augusta Wall of New Orleai 
Mrs. Wall and her descendants owned the house until 1968.

Today the house is in a remarkable state of preservation. The only problem confronting 
it is the access road that is maintained by Adams County, part of which has completely 
washed out, necessitating a detour through the Ramade Inn parking area.

The present appearance of The Briers:

The facade has a 15 ft. deep one story gallery extending across the entire wicith (approx 
rnately 80 ft.) of the front, the roof above being supported by ten Doric style columns, 
each 12 ft. in height. The front exterior wall which the gallery protects is plaster 
over brick and contains nine openings framed by the 10 columns and is completely symetri 
in all details. The center opening is the paneled entry door with arched fan light, sid<
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lights, and with wood pilasters supporting a straight classic cornice with egg and dart 
detail. Flanking this opening on either side are three tall double hung mulHoned window 
with classic trim and panel below. The fourth opening on either side of the center 
entry door is a paneled door with arched fan light just the width of each door. Except 
at the center steps (which fan out to approximately 16 ft.) there is a simple wooden 
balustrade and railing the entire perimeter of the gallery. The porch levels to 4i ft. 
above ground level.

in the roof above are four dormers with arched windows. Approximately 90% of the glass 
in all windows is the antique original glass.

The sides and rear of the house are horizontal ship-lap frame construction of cypress 
(original) believed to be over brick. Interior walls are plaster over brick made on 
the site. Interior floors are the original cypress wood.

The house is painted white with the exception of the facade under the gallery which is 
painted pale apricot. All columns and trim are white. Shutters on the two sides and 
the bannister railing on the front are dark green.

The grounds (of which approximately 8 acres are manicured) contain large live oaks, 
magnolias, dogwood, pecan, holly and azaleas. About 150 ft. from the house is a bluff 
with a magnificient view of the Mississippi River (about 200 ft. below and 1/4 mile away 
and the flat Louisiana landscape.

The unusual floor plan of The Briers is described as follows: The house is a simple 
rectangle 80 ft. wide x 57 ft. deep. This includes the gallery across the front which 
is 15 ft. deep. From the gallery, one enters the entry hail which is 20 ft. deep. 
Flanking this hall are four rooms, two on either side (all 20 ft. deep as the entry hall 
To the right are the parlor and a library. To the left are the dining room and a bedrooi 
with bath. To the rear, the entry hall has double doors opening into a large living rooi 
or drawing room approximately 46 ft. long x 22 ft. deep. This room is divided along its 
length by 5 arches supported by square reeded wooden columns. There are twin staircases 
at the ends of the room to reach the upper floor. Across the back of the room are 9 
double hung mullioned windows separated by slender reeded columns. To the left of this 
room is the kitchen, which at one time was an open porch, which led to a separate build­ 
ing housing the kitchen. To the right of this room is a small porch with a hallway and 
bath connecting to the library. From the kitchen on one side and this small porch on 
the other side, are two stairs with railings descending to the garden. In the rear 
the main floor of the house is about 10 ft. above ground level as the property slopes 
to the rear. There is a basement with brick floor under the rear half of the main 
floor. Ceilings on the main floor are 12 ft. in height.

The second floor has a bedroom on either end with a oallroom between. There are. numerou 
large closets formed by the spaces flanking the k dormer windows on the front and the 2 
dormer windows on the rear. Two of these closets have been made into bathrooms for the 
two bedrooms. Upstairs ceilings are 9 ft.

Basically, the physical appearance of The Briers has not changed since its construction. 
The simplicity and symetry of its design fortunately made changes virtually impossible.



-3-

A photograph taken In 19)1* shows the basic structure to be identical to that at present- 
No interior changes are known to have been made except as follows: Porch on left rear 
of main floor made into kitchen about 1927; 2 closets up and 2 closets down made into 
bath rooms about 1927 

Today the house is owned by Wilds & Canon Design, Inc. of which Robert E. Canon and 
Newton Wilds are stockholders. Mr. Canon and Mr. Wilds have restored the house and 
grounds into a near perfect state; and the house is furnished with their collection 
of antique English furniture including Queen Anne, Georgian, and Regency with a few 
pieces of Victorian (circa 1850). Backgrounds and colors reflect the style of the 
more vibrant English Regency period during which time the house was built.

-This photograph in the owners possession is a copy of a 1911 calendar distributed by 
Benoist Brothers, Natchez, Mississippi.

Footnotes: 1. page 200, Jefferson Davis, Ex-President of the Confederate States 
of America, by Vari-na Howell Davis, 1890; also letter of Jefferson 
Davis to Mr. W. G. Irvine, dated October, 1889; and numerous other 
sources.

2. page 55, The Papers of Jefferson Davis, Vol. 2, edited by James T. 
Mclntosh, 197^; also Davis Papers, University of Alabama

3. page 872, American State Papers.
4. Chain-of-tI tie edited by Campbell J. Miles for Arch R. Winter


